
立法會 
Legislative Council 

 
 
LC Paper No. CB(1)1701/05-06 
(These minutes have been seen 
by the Administration) 

 
Ref  :  CB1/PL/ITB/1 
 

 
Panel on Information Technology and Broadcasting 

 
Minutes of meeting 

held on Monday, 8 May 2006, at 2:30 pm 
in Conference Room A of the Legislative Council Building 

 
 
Members present : Hon SIN Chung-kai, JP (Chairman) 

Hon Albert Jinghan CHENG (Deputy Chairman) 
Dr Hon LUI Ming-wah, SBS, JP 
Hon Jasper TSANG Yok-sing, GBS, JP 
Hon Howard YOUNG, SBS, JP 
Hon Emily LAU Wai-hing, JP 
Hon Timothy FOK Tsun-ting, GBS, JP 
Hon Ronny TONG Ka-wah, SC 

 
 
Member attending : Hon Margaret NG 
 
 
Member absent : Hon Fred LI Wah-ming, JP 
 
 
Public officers  : Agenda Item IV 
  attending  

Mrs Marion LAI, JP 
Deputy Secretary for Commerce, Industry and 
Technology (Communications and Technology) 
 
Mr Eddie CHEUNG 
Principal Assistant Secretary for Commerce, Industry 
and Technology  
(Communications and Technology) A 
 

   



 - 2 -Action 

Agenda Item V 
 
Mr Stephen MAK, JP 
Deputy Government Chief Information Officer 
(Operation) 
 
Mr Dennis PANG 
Assistant Government Chief Information Officer 
(Industry Development) 
 
Mr Mark O. CLIFT 
Director (Campus and Project Management) of Hong 
Kong Cyberport Management Co. Ltd. 
 

  Agenda Item VI 
 
Mr Stephen MAK, JP 
Deputy Government Chief Information Officer 
(Operation) 
 
Mr Dennis PANG 
Assistant Government Chief Information Officer 
(Industry Development) 
 

 
Clerk in attendance : Miss Polly YEUNG 

Chief Council Secretary (1)3  
 
 
Staff in attendance : Ms Debbie YAU 

Senior Council Secretary (1)1 
 
Ms Guy YIP 
Council Secretary (1)1 

   
 

I Confirmation of minutes and matters arising 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1382/05-06 
 

-- Minutes of meeting held on 
17 March 2006 
 

1 The minutes of the meeting held on 17 March 2006 were confirmed. 
 
 
II Papers issued since last meeting 
 
2. Members noted that no papers had been issued since the last meeting. 
 

 



 - 3 -Action 

III Date and items for discussion for next meeting 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1380/05-06(01)
 

-- List of outstanding items for 
discussion 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1380/05-06(02)
 

-- List of follow-up actions 

3. Members noted and agreed to discuss the following items proposed by the 
Administration to be held on 12 June 2006: 
 

(a) Progress update on the E-government programme; 
(b) Commencement of section 8(1)(aa) of the Telecommunications 

Ordinance and creation of a class licence to regulate 
telecommunications services; and 

(c) Proposed establishment of the Communications Authority 
 
Members also agreed to the Chairman's suggestion to invite deputations' view in 
relation to item (c) by posting a general invitation notice on the Council's website.   
 
 (post-meeting note:  A general notice inviting submissions on the subject 

and attendance for the next regular Panel meeting on 12 June 2006 has been 
posted on the Council's website on the Internet.  The 18 District Councils 
have also been invited to provide views on the subject.) 

 
 
IV Proposed extension of a supernumerary directorate post of the 

Secretary to the Committee on Review of Public Service Broadcasting 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1380/05-06(03) 
 

-- Information paper provided by 
Administration 
 

4. At the invitation of the Chairman, the Deputy Secretary for Commerce, 
Industry and Technology (Communications and Technology) (DSCIT(CT)) briefed 
members on the Administration's proposed retention of a supernumerary post of 
Administrative Officer Staff Grade B (AOSGB) (D3) for a period of six months 
from 10 August 2006 to 9 February 2007 to provide continued support to the 
Committee on Review of Public Service Broadcasting (PSB) in Hong Kong (the 
Review Committee). 
 
5. The Chairman recalled that according to the Administration's information 
earlier on, the Review Committee was expected to submit its report to the Chief 
Executive (CE) in October 2006.  He enquired whether there would be any change 
to the Review Committee's work schedule for completing the review on PSB in 
Hong Kong (the Review) and publishing its report.  In response, DSCIT(CT) said 
that when the Review Committee was established in January 2006, it was expected 
that the Review Committee would take some nine months, i.e. by October 2006 to 
complete its work.  After reviewing its work plan soon after commencement of the 
Review, the Review Committee now envisaged that it would require more time and 



 - 4 -Action 

would make the best endeavour to complete the review by end 2006. 
 
6. In reply to the Chairman, DSCIT(CT) confirmed that the Administration 
would need to seek approval again if it was necessary to retain the post beyond 
9 February 2007. 
 
7. Members did not raise any objection to the Administration's proposal to 
retain the AOSGB post.  They noted that the Administration planned to submit the 
relevant staffing proposal to the Establishment Subcommittee in June 2006. 
 
 
V Report on the Cyberport Project (2005) 

  
LC Paper No. CB(1)1380/05-06(04)
 

-- Information paper provided by 
Administration 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1381/05-06 
 

-- Background brief on Cyberport 
prepared by the Secretariat  
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1436/05-06(01)
(tabled and subsequently issued on 9 
May 2006) 

-- Powerpoint presentation material 
provided by the Administration 
(English version only)  
 

Presentation by the Administration and Hong Kong Cyberport Management Co Ltd 
 
8. At the invitation of the Chairman, the Deputy Government Chief 
Information Officer (Operation) (DGCIO(O)) highlighted that the prime objective 
of the Government in undertaking the Cyberport Project was to support and 
promote innovation and technological development in Hong Kong through the 
creation of a strategic cluster of Information Technology (IT) and related 
companies as well as a critical mass of IT professional talents in the territory.  He 
then briefed members on the progress report for 2005-06 and the business plan for 
Cyberport for 2006-07 in respect of the following areas: 
 

(a) Creating a strategic cluster of IT companies; 
(b) Providing infrastructure and technical support to SMEs; 
(c) Nurturing IT talents and promoting professional development; and    
(d) Facilitating exchange and cooperation. 

 
9. On the financial status of the Cyberport Project, DGCIO(O) advised that the 
operation of the Cyberport Portion recorded positive cashflow starting from 
October 2005 to March 2006.  The Government was confident that in the coming 
years, the occupancy rate of the Cyberport Portion would steadily increase and the 
operational efficiency in the Cyberport would continue to be improved, resulting in 
sustainable positive cashflow operation.  As regards the return on the 
Government's investment in the Project, DGCIO(O) reported that based on the 
latest forecast by the Cyberport Developer (the Developer), the total amount of the 
surplus proceeds that should be available for distribution up to year 2010, including 



 - 5 -Action 

$4.65 billion distributed to-date, was estimated to be around $20 billion, from 
which the Government's share should be around $12.9 billion in total, including $3 
billion already received to-date.  He nevertheless pointed out that the actual 
amount of surplus proceeds available for distribution and hence the Government's 
share, would depend on the actual sales prices of the remaining residential units.  
DGCIO(O) further highlighted that the Government together with the Cyberport 
management would continue to make the best endeavour to achieve the public 
missions set for the Cyberport in the years to come.  The Administration was 
confident that the Cyberport was capable of making significant contributions to the 
development of the IT and digital entertainment industries in Hong Kong. 
 
10. DGCIO(O) further said that the Administration and the Cyberport 
management were planning to invite Panel members to visit the Cyberport before 
the end of the current legislative session. 
 
11. With the aid of power-point presentation, Mr Mark O CLIFT, Director 
(Campus and Project Management) of Hong Kong Cyberport Management Co. Ltd  
(D/HKCMCL) took members through Cyberport's highlights in 2005 in respect of 
the following areas: 
 

(a) Cyberport office tenancy highlights; 
(b) Results for the community and industry; 
(c) International collaborations and accolades;  
(d) Increasing public awareness;  
(e) Cyberport signature events; and 
(f) Cyberport on the right track 

 
Discussion 
 
Uptake of tenancy 
 
12. Ms Emily LAU stressed that all along, members were keen to ensure that the 
Cyberport Project could meet its public mission to create a strategic cluster and 
critical mass of leading IT companies.  However, noting that only 45% of the 
existing 47 tenant companies were new to Hong Kong, Ms LAU was very 
concerned that many Cybeport tenants might have merely relocated from other 
districts and hence, the Project was in reality a property development project 
competing with other developers in offering quality office premises.  As the 
Committee on Admission of Cyberport Office Tenants (CACOT) had so far 
considered 163 applications for tenancy and only 47 had been selected, Ms LAU 
sought information on the reasons for rejecting other applications.  Given that 
currently, the tenants had only taken up altogether 54% of the office space, Ms 
LAU queried why the Administration was confident in envisaging that the office 
occupancy rate would increase to 60% - 70% in the next 12 months. 
 
13. Dr LUI Ming-wah also expressed disappointment at the slow progress in the 
uptake of tenancy at the Cyberport.  He was concerned that among the 47 
organizations which had leased or committed to lease office premises at the 



 - 6 -Action 

Cyberport, two were institutes set up by local universities while three were 
government agencies.  Dr LUI sought information on ways to boost the occupancy 
rate. 
 
14. In response, DGCIO(O) stressed that there was no question of the Cyberport 
competing with other property developers for tenants as the attractiveness of the 
Cyberport was not low rental, but its state-of-the-art infrastructure, campus-like 
environment and the synergy that could be unleashed among like-minded 
companies.  Nevertheless, in 2006-07, HKCMCL would continue to work closely 
with InvestHK, the Hong Kong Economic and Trade Offices and Hong Kong Trade 
Development etc to promote the Cyberport as the IT and digital entertainment hub 
of Hong Kong.  HKCMCL would also upkeep the performance of the shared 
facilities to increase the attractiveness of the Cyberport.  On the envisaged growth 
in occupancy rate over the next 12 months, DGCIO(O) explained that about 70 to 
80 applications were still under consideration by CACOT or subject to 
confirmation by the applicants.  In view of the improvement in the economic 
environment and increased international awareness of the Cybeport, the 
Administration had reasons to believe that the occupancy rate would increase to 
60% - 70% steadily in the next 12 months. 
 
15. Ms Emily LAU remained doubtful about the Administration's optimistic 
estimation and asked whether the Administration had set any target occupancy rate 
at the inception of the Cybeport Project back in 1999.  In view of the slow uptake 
of tenancy, Ms LAU considered that the Administration had made a wrong decision 
to waive the take-up guarantee (of not less than 20% and not more than 50% of 
office space) by Pacific Century Group (PCG) of office premises at the Cyberport.  
 
16. In response, DGCIO(O) recapped the Administration's view that the 
guarantee, if effected, might be perceived to be excessive and over-dominating as a 
single company would be allowed to occupy up to 50% of the lettable space at a 
government-owned IT infrastructure.  DGCIO(O) confirmed that the 
Administration still maintained this view to-date.  As far as he understood, no 
target occupancy rate had been set when the Cyberport Project was implemented. 
 
17. The Deputy Chairman was surprised to note that there was no targeted 
occupancy rate which in his opinion, should form the basis in deciding whether or 
not to waive PCG's take-up guarantee.  He disagreed with the Administration's 
rationale for waiving the guarantee and pointed out that PCG might seek to raise 
rental income by sub-letting office space rather than taking up all the office space 
itself.  He recapped that the take-up guarantee was indeed one of the undertakings 
in PCG's proposal to develop Cyberport.  
 
18. In response, DGCIO(O) said that as one of the public missions of the 
Cyberport was to create a strategic IT cluster, it might not be appropriate to entrust 
PCG with the responsibility in selecting tenant companies in order to fulfil its 
obligations under the take-up guarantee.  
 
 



 - 7 -Action 

19. Ms Emily LAU could not accept that from the outset, there was no target 
occupancy rate since this was an important indicator to assess the success or 
otherwise of the Cyberport.  She urged the Administration and HKCMCL to 
market the Cyberport to overseas companies more proactively instead of competing 
with local developers for the limited pool of local office tenants.  Separately, Ms 
LAU considered that some of the public missions should also be used to evaluate 
the achievement of the Cyberport, such as how far Cyberport had helped Hong 
Kong develop into a leading digital city in the region; and to what extent the small 
and medium IT enterprises had been nurtured and supported. 

 
20. Notwithstanding that no target occupancy rate had been set when the Project 
was implemented, DGCIO(O) stressed that the Administration had no intention to 
compete with other property developers for local tenants.  The Cyberport had not 
sought to admit all tenancy applicants but only those whose business was consistent 
with the missions of the Cyberport.  He reiterated that the main attraction of the 
Cyberport was its state-of-the-art infrastructure and supporting facilities which 
were not available in other Grade A office premises in Hong Kong.  As regards the 
extent of the Cyberport in fulfilling the pubic missions, DGCIO(O) pointed out that 
the IT infrastructure and services at the Cyberport were important for the 
continuous development of the local IT and digital entertainment industries, in 
particular SMEs which could not afford the capital investment in expensive 
infrastructure and equipment.  On Hong Kong's development into a leading digital 
city in the region, DGCIO(O) remarked that having regard to Hong Kong's 
experience, the Mainland and some neighbouring territories had plans to develop 
Cyberport-like infrastructure while the Cyberport concept of a broadband 
interconnected community was now catching on in Seoul.  
 

Admin 21. Ms Emily LAU requested that in reporting on the Cyberport Project in the 
future, the Administration/Cyberport management should provide quantifiable 
information such as the extent of achievement for each of the public missions, as 
well as other relevant information including occupancy rates and financial status 
for members' reference. 

 
22. Noting that there was a 13% increase in the employee headcount of the 
Cyberport tenants, Mr Ronny TONG sought information on the actual number of 
employees involved.  In response, D/HKCMCL said that the increase in real 
number was about 400 out of a total headcount of some 3 500 employees.  He 
stressed that the increase was generated by existing Cyberport tenants which had 
built up and expanded their businesses since their first establishment in the 
Cyberport. 
 
Matters relating to rental 
 
23. The Deputy Chairman sought clarification from the Administration and 
HKCMCL about certain hearsay information that the Cyberport had offered a 
five-year rent-free period for leases of 10 years.  He considered such terms 
excessively favourable and might be subject to abuse.  In response, D/HKCMCL 
refuted the hearsay information and highlighted that the terms of the leases entered 



 - 8 -Action 

into by the HKCMCL and prospective tenants were in accordance with prudent 
commercial principles and in line with existing market practices.  As regards 
market practices, D/HKCMCL advised that in general, the lease period of office 
premises ranged from one year to five years.  Depending on the prevailing market 
conditions, the maximum rent-free period, which was normally staggered over the 
lease period, could be up to 24 months.  
 
24. While acknowledging the need to maintain flexibility in offering rent- free 
period, in particular for new office buildings, the Deputy Chairman considered that 
if HKCMCL offered a five-year lease with a maximum rent-free period of up to 24 
months, this was still too favourable.  He was concerned whether all Cyberport 
tenant companies were given the same concessionary treatment in terms of 
rent-free period and if not, the criteria in deciding the treatment for individual cases. 
In view of the benefits involved, the Deputy Chairman considered it vital to 
conduct the selection of tenant companies in a fair, impartial and open manner. 
 
25. Notwithstanding certain market practices of offering favourable rent-free 
periods, D/HKCMCL assured members that all leases had been negotiated and 
entered into in a fair and open manner.  The duration of rent-free period varied 
from tenant to tenant, depending on a number of factors, including the lease period, 
the rent, the leased office space and prevailing market conditions etc.  In 
negotiating the lease of Cyberport office space, HKCMCL would strive to offer the 
minimum rent-free period that was necessary to secure the deal.  Where prevailing 
market conditions were favourable to landlords, HKCMCL had offered rent-free 
period which was just about the period of time required for fitting out the premises. 
 
26. In reply to the Deputy Chairman's further enquiry on the maximum rent-free 
period that HKCMCL had ever offered for a two-year lease and a five-year lease, 
D/HKCMCL advised that he could not disclose the actual details of each particular 
lease as they were commercially sensitive information that should be kept 
confidential.  Moreover, disclosure of such information might also prejudice the 
bargaining power of HKCMCL during future tenancy negotiation.  Nevertheless, 
D/HKCMCL reassured members that the negotiation of all leases of Cyberport 
tenancy was overseen and kept in view by HKCMCL's board of directors. 
 

 
 
 
HKCMCL 
 
 
Admin 

27. The Deputy Chairman was dissatisfied with HKCMCL's response and 
stressed that he was not asking for detailed information of specific tenants but 
general information on rent-free period offered by HKCMCL.  In this connection, 
the Chairman asked HKCMCL to provide the information requested by the Deputy 
Chairman as far as practicable.  If it decided against doing so, it should provide 
the Panel with an explanation in writing.  At the Chairman's request, DGCIO(O) 
said that he would discuss further with HKCMCL to see whether and how relevant 
information could be provided to the Panel. 
 
The Arcade 
 
28. The Deputy Chairman asked whether the entire Arcade or a major part of it 
had been leased to a single operator who was allowed to sub-let some of the space 



 - 9 -Action 

to other retail operators.  If this was the case, he enquired how the single operator 
had been selected and the duration of the rent-free period.  He was concerned that 
there might be "collusion between business and the Government" and "transfer of 
benefits" in the process. 
 
29. In response, D/HKCMCL stressed that there was no question of "collusion 
between business and the Government" and "transfer of benefits".  An 
international property consultant had been engaged as the leasing agency to identify 
retail service tenants and to help negotiate the leases.  D/HKCMCL confirmed that 
there was an anchor tenant taking up no more than one-third of the total lettable 
area in the Arcade providing retail services.  The anchor tenant operated some of 
the retail services and sub-let some of the space to other operators in accordance 
with the tenancy agreement.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 
HKCMCL 

30. The Deputy Chairman remained doubtful.  As far as he understood, an 
anchor tenant was usually a major provider operating a single business instead of 
sub-letting space to other service operators.  He reiterated his concern about 
whether the procedures in identifying the anchor tenant were open and fair.  In 
response, D/HKCMCL assured members that relevant tasks in identifying the 
anchor tenant and other tenancy matters for the Arcade were carried out by the 
international property consultant which was very experienced in retail service 
tenancy.  Nevertheless, D/HKCMCL agreed to provide supplementary 
information regarding the tenancy arrangements for the Cyberport Arcade, 
including the procedures for identifying the anchor tenant and details of the 
tenancy agreement in allowing the anchor tenant to sublet space to other service 
operators. 
 
Financial status 
 
31. Mr Ronny TONG referred to the following information in the consolidated 
profit and loss account for the year ended 31st March 2005 of the Hong Kong 
Cyberport Development Holdings Limited (HKCDHL) (Annex B of 
CB(1)1380/05-06(04)): 
 

                   HK$ 
1. Turnover (including rental income and income 

from hotel operation) 
135,843,514 
 

2.  Project income  1,674,713,591 
3.  Other revenues 12,126,034 
4.  Operating expenses before depreciation 224,629,813 

 
Mr TONG sought further details on the item of "project income" which in his 
opinion should not be taken into account in evaluating the financial performance of 
the Cyberport Project if it was not a recurrent item.  Assuming that the project 
income was a non-recurrent item and excluded from the consolidated account, then 
HKCDHL was in effect operating at a loss of about $75 million in 2004-05.  Mr 
TONG sought the Administration's confirmation on his understanding.  
 



 - 10 -Action 

32. On the project income, DGCIO(O) informed members that it referred to the 
surplus proceeds received by the Government from the sale of the residential units. 
He recapped that based on the latest forecast by the Developer, the Government's 
share of the surplus proceeds by 2010 should be around $12.9 billion, including $3 
billion already received to-date.  
 
33. Mr Ronny TONG remained unconvinced and was very concerned that the 
project income of $1.67 billion might in fact be an aggregate figure accumulated 
from the past few years.  He commented that it was misleading to include an 
extraordinary non-recurrent income in the consolidated account.  It would be 
fairer if information on the accumulated losses was also included.  Echoing his 
view, Dr LUI Ming-wah was concerned whether the project income referred to the 
income received in 2004-05. 
 
34. In response, DGCIO(O) stated in the affirmative and confirmed that the first 
distribution of surplus proceeds of $1.67 billion to the Government was made on 9 
August 2004.  On the information about losses, DGCIO(O) referred to Note 9 of 
the Notes to the Accounts (Annex B of CB(1)1380/05-06(04)) which showed the 
accumulated losses carried forward. 
 
35. In this regard, D/HKCMCL drew members' attention to the fact that the 
Cyberport Portion was only practically completed in end 2004, Hence, 2004-05 
was just a partial year of Cyberport's operation where a lot of associated 
developments and groundworks were still underway, thereby incurring higher 
project expenses.  Nevertheless, D/HKCMCL recapped that the operation of the 
Cyberport Portion recorded positive cashflow for the six months from October 
2005 to March 2006.  He was confident that the financial prospect of the 
Cyberport would continue to improve steadily over time. 
 
36. The Deputy Chairman and Ms Emily LAU were concerned that the 
Cyberport might continue to operate at a loss and rely on cross-subsidization by 
income from the sale of units in the ancillary Residential Portion to fund the 
shortfall.  In response, DGCIO(O) highlighted that the key concept underlying 
principle of the Cyberport Project was that revenue from the sales of the residential 
units would be used to drive the Project and fund the project expenses.  It was just 
a matter of financial arrangement that the surplus proceeds from the sale of the 
residential units would be used to offset the project expenses for the Cyberport 
Portion.  
 
37. Noting that in 2004-05, the rental income of the Cyberport was about $40.2 
million whereas the management fee income was some $28.7 million, Dr LUI 
Ming-wah was very concerned that under normal circumstances, the management 
fee should only amount to some 10% the its rent of the premises.  He sought 
information on the level of rental charges and the total floor area that had been 
leased.  The Deputy Chairman also pointed out that the income from management 
fee was about 70% of the rental income.  This might either be attributed to a very 
low level of rental charges or a very long rent-free period during which tenant 
companies were only required to pay management fees.  



 - 11 -Action 

 
38. In response, D/HKCMCL highlighted that all phases of the Cyberport 
Portion were not completed practically until December 2004.  In 2004-05, 38% of 
all lettable office space, i.e. 380 000 square feet, had been leased.  As such, the 
rental income recorded in the 2004-05 consolidated account might not reflect a full  
year's rental income.  On the actual level of rental charges, D/HKCMCL recapped 
that the information was commercially sensitive. 
 
39. Dr LUI Ming-wah further noted that the building management expenses and 
IT facilities maintenance fee for the same reporting period were around $76.3 
million and $25.9 million respectively.  He was very concerned that the amount of 
building management expenses alone was higher than the total of rental income and 
management fee income. 
 
40. In this regard, D/HKCMCL advised that to make the Cyberport marketable 
and vibrant, the infrastructure of all shared facilities should be ready and in place 
when office tenancy was negotiated.  Like any other infrastructural development 
projects in their initial years of operation, the operating cost would usually be 
relatively higher than the incomes generated.  However, he envisaged that the two 
sets of figures would be more in line with the usual norms as the operation of the 
Cyberport was up and running. 
 
41. Referring to footnote 2 of the Administration's paper (CB(1)1380/05-06(04)) 
that the Development Maintenance Fund (DMF) was changed from $200 million to 
$500 million on 31 December 2003, the Chairman sought information on the 
source of funding for the DMF, its intended purpose, the reasons for the increase 
and its implications.   
 
42. In response, DGCIO(O) advised that pursuant to the Project Agreement, the 
DMF was one of reserve funds set up from the capital contribution of the 
Developer for the Project to provide funding for maintenance, upkeeping and where 
necessary, replacing the shared facilities in the Cyberport Portion.  When a 
provisional assessment of the DMF was made in late 2003 in the light of 
operational experience, the amount was raised from $200 million to $500 million.  
He added that it was unlikely that the level of DMF would be further increased. 
 
Summing up 
 

Admin 
 
 
 
 
 

Admin 

43. The Chairman requested the Administration and HKCMCL to take note of 
members' views expressed at the meeting and make the best endeavour to provide 
the information requested by members.  On the timing of submitting the progress 
report to the Panel and to enable members to examine the latest financial status of 
the Cyberport Project, the Chairman suggested that the Administration and 
HKCMCL should brief the Panel annually, after the financial statement of the 
financial year in question had been audited.  In reporting the financial status of 
the Cyberport Project, relevant figures for the past few years should be listed side 
by side in the consolidated account report for members' easy reference.  
 



 - 12 -Action 

(Post-meeting note: The HKCMCL advised that auditing of the annual 
financial statement is normally completed by October each year). 

 
 
VI Progress report on promoting the development of the digital 

entertainment industry in Hong Kong – strategy and measures 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1380/05-06(05) 
 

-- Information paper provided by 
Administration 
 

Introduction by the Administration 
 
44. At the invitation of the Chairman, DGCIO(O) updated members on the 
various initiatives for promoting the development of the digital entertainment (DE) 
industry in Hong Kong in 2005-06, including an update on the facilitation measures 
under a five-prong strategy since the Panel was last briefed on 13 June 2005. 
  
45. The Assistant Government Chief Information Officer (Industry Development) 
(AGCIO(ID)) then outlined the work undertaken by the Government in 
collaboration with trade bodies, industry support organizations and 
non-government organizations to implement the strategy as follows: 
  

(a) On consolidating services/resources support, the Digital Entertainment 
Industry Support Centre (DEISC), operated by the Hong Kong 
Productivity Council with funding from the Office of the Government 
Chief Information Officer (OGCIO) and established in the Cyberport, 
had gained general acceptance by local DE companies for its one-stop 
support services.  These services included the provision of one-stop 
business and technical support services, organization of industry 
networking events to create business matching opportunities and 
initiation of topical discussion among practitioners, as well as 
Government Bureaux and Departments to promote understanding of the 
business environment. 

 
(b) On nurturing promising enterprises and professional talents, the Digital 

Entertainment Incubation cum Training Centre (DEITC), supported by 
the Innovation and Technology Fund, was opened in the Cyberport in 
November 2005 with the aim to incubate up to 45 local DE start-up 
firms or innovative projects, and to provide focused business 
development training to local firms, mainly SMEs and practitioners in 
the sector.  The first batch of 12 incubatees had been recruited in early 
2006 and recruitment of the second batch was underway.  Besides, 
under the Xbox Games Incubation Programme, which aimed to nurture 
local talents in games development and was operated by HKCMCL in 
collaboration with Microsoft and with funding support from the OGCIO, 
two of the six incubatees had successfully secured investments from 
game publishers for publishing their own Xbox titles.  In addition, 
pilot internship programmes had been launched in July 2005 to provide 



 - 13 -Action 

placement for local graduates in DE companies. 
 

(c) On facilitating entry into the Mainland, DEISC, in collaboration with 
the China Game Publisher Association (Hong Kong Chapter), had 
secured the authorization from the Mainland authority to accept 
applications from online game developers in Hong Kong to be selected 
for publication on the Mainland.  This arrangement had greatly 
facilitated access by local developers to the Mainland market. 
Furthermore, information of interest to the DE industry including 
Mainland government rules and regulations and other useful market 
information was also made available by DEISC. 

 
(d) On promoting excellence, Hong Kong Pavilions and industry 

delegations had been organized at international and Mainland trade 
fairs/exhibitions to showcase the products and services of Hong Kong's 
DE industry and to create more opportunities for DE companies to meet 
with government officials and potential business partners.  Moreover, 
the Hong Kong Digital Entertainment Excellence Awards had been 
organized annually since 2003 to give recognition to the best work in 
the local DE community. 

 
(e) On attracting investment, HKCMCL worked closely with InvestHK to 

promote Hong Kong's DE industry to potential partners, buyers, 
investors worldwide.  In addition, the Cyberport Venture Capital 
Forum held in December 2005 had attracted over 300 participants in DE 
and creative industries from around the world.  The Forum provided a 
unique platform for local companies to meet venture capitalists and to 
explore investment opportunities.  In another international event, the 
Hong Kong International Film and Television Market 2006, a Digital 
Entertainment Pavilion had been set up to provide a focal point for local 
companies to meet international buyers and investors in the 
entertainment industry. 

 
Discussion 
 
Cost-effectiveness of the measures under the five-prong strategy 
 
46. To facilitate members' consideration of the cost-effectiveness of the 
initiatives taken by the Administration to promote the local DE industry, Ms Emily 
LAU urged the Administration to provide measurable and quantifiable information 
in respect of each of the areas under the five-prong strategy.  For instance, on 
consolidating services/resources support, members would expect information such 
as the revenue derived from additional businesses brought to SMEs as a result of 
the one-stop services and industry networking events organized by DEISC.  As 
regards incubation cum training for up to 45 local DE start-up firms or innovative 
projects, information such as the number of DE personnel to be trained and the 
economic benefits to Hong Kong should be provided.  On facilitating the local DE 
industry to enter into the Mainland, information on the number of DE companies 



 - 14 -Action 

which had successfully accessed the Mainland market and the additional revenue 
generated as a result would be useful reference. 
 
47. In response, DGCIO(O) said that the Administration had included as far as 
practicable measurable and quantifiable information on promoting the local DE 
industry in its paper.  For example, it was stated in the paper that up to 31 March 
2006, over 130 times of one-stop support services had been rendered by DEISC to 
the DE companies and up to 45 local DE start-up firms or innovative projects 
would be incubated by DEITC.  DGCIO(O) pointed out that while the 
Administration would strive to obtain quantified information in terms of revenue 
generated from business growth as a result of the strategy, the DE companies 
concerned might not be willing to provide such information which pertained to 
their business activities. 
 
48. Ms Emily LAU did not subscribe to the Administration's explanation.  She 
said that apart from quantifying the activities that had been undertaken by the 
Administration, it was more important to inform members of the tangible and 
intangible benefits derived from the various initiatives.  To facilitate the collection 
of feedback, Ms LAU considered that DE companies receiving assistance/support 
services under the strategy should be required to provide the necessary feedbacks 
and information.  
 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Admin 

49. On accessing the Mainland market, DGCIO(O) said that in addition to the 
Mainland and Hong Kong Closer Economic Partnership Arrangement, DEISC had 
also provided assistance to the DE companies with a view to familiarizing these 
companies with the Mainland's business environment.  Nevertheless, he undertook 
to try to provide further information on the number of DE companies which had 
accessed the Mainland market as a result of the facilitation measures by DEISC. 
On the suggestion to solicit feedbacks from DE companies, DGCIO(O) said that the 
Administration might consider interviewing the DE companies to gauge their views 
on the cost-effectiveness of the services they had received under the strategy.  
 
Copyright protection 
 
50. Highlighting the importance of intellectual property protection in ensuring a 
sustainable growth of the DE industry, Mr Ronny TONG was very concerned about 
the absence of any measure to combat piracy under the strategy.  In response, 
DGCIO(O) stressed that the Administration had spared no effort in raising public 
awareness of and respect for intellectual property rights.  While the Intellectual 
Property Department was tasked with the protection of intellectual property rights, 
a Digital Right Management platform would be set up in the Cyberport to provide 
support to the DE companies. 
 

 
 
 
 
Admin 

51. The Chairman recalled that the Finance Committee (FC) had approved in 
June 2005 a commitment of $30.8 million for the establishment of DEITC and 
enquired about on the progress of work so far.  In response, the Administration 
agreed to provide an information paper to the Panel as soon as possible setting out 
the usage of the funds approved by FC for, the progress of DEITC's work and its 



 - 15 -Action 

effectiveness in promoting the local DE industry.  Ms LAU considered that if 
necessary, the Panel might re-visit the subject having regard to the supplementary 
information received from the Administration. 
 
 
VII Observations and findings of the Panel's delegation which visited 

Canada, United States and United Kingdom in April 2006 to study 
public service broadcasting 

 
LC Paper No. CB(1)1422/05-06(01)
 

-- Proposed workplan to study on the 
development of public service 
broadcasting in Hong Kong 
prepared by the Secretariat 
 

LC Paper No. CB(1)1393/05-06 
 

-- The Delegation's Report on the 
Overseas Duty Visit to Canada, the 
United States and the United 
Kingdom for the Panel's Study on 
the Development of Public Service 
Broadcasting in Hong Kong  
 

52. The Chairman recapped that as part of its study on the development of PSB 
in Hong Kong, a delegation comprising the Panel members and one non-Panel 
Member had visited Canada, the United States and the United Kingdom in April 
2006.  The delegation's report outlining its observations on the PSB systems in the 
three places had been issued to all Members and made available to the public and 
the media.  The Chairman then invited Panel members to comment on the 
proposed workplan (CB(1)1422/05-06(01)). 
 
53. In reply to Mr Ronny TONG, the Chairman explained that the input from 
Panel members who had not taken part in the overseas visit was also very important 
in preparing and finalizing the study report.  The Deputy Chairman considered 
that the views of non-delegation members were also very important as the study 
should also reflect their views on PSB.  
 
54. Members agreed to the activities listed in the proposed workplan.  However, 
both the Deputy Chairman and Mr Ronny TONG were not in favour of holding 
meetings on Saturdays.  Ms Emily LAU appreciated the practical difficulty in 
securing meeting slots during this period as most of the available time slots had 
been taken up by other committees.  If necessary, she suggested that the Panel 
might consider holding closed meetings on Wednesday afternoons at suitable 
junctures while meetings of the Council were in progress.  The Chairman 
remarked that as the Administration had indicated that the Review Committee 
might need more time to conduct its work and would probably complete its review 
by the end of 2006 instead of October 2006 as previously advised, it might not be 
necessary for the Panel to rush to publish its report in July 2006.  After discussion, 
members agreed to hold the first closed meeting on 15 May 2006 at 5:30 pm.  
 



 - 16 -Action 

 
VIII Any other business 
 
55. There being no other business, the meeting ended at 4:10 pm. 
 
 
 
 
 
Council Business Division 1 
Legislative Council Secretariat 
8 June 2006 


